
UNITED STATES DISTRICT CO URT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

#

cAssxo. : S- m - o 5' -tokJt%

IJM TED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

EDELBERTO BORGES M ORALES,

Defendant.
/

CRIM INAL COVER SHEET

1. Did this matter originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the United States
Attorney's Office prior to October 3, 2019 (Mag. Judge Jared M. Strauss)? No

2. Did tllis matter involve the participation of or consultation with M agistrate Judge Eduardo 1.
Sanchez dlzring llis tenure at the U.S. Attonley's Office, which concluded on January 22,
2023? No

Did this matler involve the participation of or consultation with M agistrate Judge M arty
Fulgueira Elfenbein dlzring her tenure at the U.S. Attorney's Office, which concluded on
M arch 5, 2024? No

Did this m atter involve the participation of or consultation with M agistrate Judge Ellen F.
D'Angelo dtuing her tenure at the U.S. Attorney's Office, which concluded on October 7,
20242 N o

Respectfully submitted,

HA YDEN P. O'BYRNE
UN ITED STATES ATTORN EY

By: /s/ Timothv J Abraham
Timothy J. Abrahnm
Assistant United States Attorney .

U.S. Attorney's Office - SDFL
F1 Bar No. 114372
99 N E 4th Street, 4th Floor
M iami, Florida 33132
Te1: (305) 961-9403
Email: Timothv.Abrahnm7@usdoi.cov

Case 1:25-mj-02539-LFL   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/21/2025   Page 1 of 11

chandraburse
Filed By



A0 91 (Rev. l 1/1 1) Criminal Complafnt

UNITED STATES D ISTRICT COURT
for the

United States of Am erica
V.

Edelberto Borges Morales,

)

) . . . gejs àq ..(x (j) casexo. t .-jï- mg-
)
)
)
)

Defendant.

CRIM INAL COM PLAINT

1, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

On or about the datets) of October 2024 - January 2025 in the county of Miami-Dade in the

Southern District of Florida , the defendantts) violated:

Code Section Oyense Descrètion
18 U.S.C. j 1956(h) Conspiracy to commit money Iaundering

This criminal complaint is based on these facts:

SEE ATTACHED AFFIDAVIT.

V Continued on the attached sheet.

> > .
Complainant 's signature

Anthony A. Lam, Special Agent HHS-OIG
Printed ame and title

Judge 's siv ature

Honorable Lauren F. Louis, United States Magisrate
Printed name and title

Sworn to before me and signed in my presence.

/w//p-<-oate: o
City and state: Miami, Florida
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AFFIDAW T IN SUPPORT OF CRIM INAL COM PLM NT

1, Anthony A. Lam, being first duly sworn, hereby depose and state as follows:

INTRODUCTION

I am  a Special Agent with the U .S. Depadment of Health and Hllm an Services,

Offce of lnspector General (1tHHS-O1G''), currently assigned to the HHS-OIG Minmi Regional

Office. l have been a Special Agent with HHS-OIG since October 2022. Previously, I was

employed as an lnvestigative Analyst with HHS-OIG from July 2019 through July 2022. 1 have

completed the Criminal Investigator Training Program (CITP) course at the Federal Law

Enforcement Training Center (FLETC) and Special Agent Basic Trairling (SABT) program and

Investigative Analyst Training Progrnm (IATP) at HHS-OIG'S National Training and Emergency

Operations Branch. I also have a master's degree in fnance from Florida lntemational University.

As a Special Agent, I have conducted many fraud investigations, including money latmdering,

health care fraud, and wire fraud. As such, l nm an investigative or 1aw enforcement officer of the

United States within the menning of Section 251047) of Title 18, United States Code, that is, an

officer of the United States who is empowered by 1aw to conduct investigations and makb arrests

for offenses enllmerated in Title 18 of the United States Code, including, but not limited to,

offenses involving health care fraud, money laundering, and conspiracies to comm it those

offenses.

This affidavit is submitted in support cdm inal com plaint charging

EDELBERTO BORGES MORALES (EûBORGES'') with conspiracy to commit money laundering,

in violation of 18 United States Code, Section 1956(h). As described below, there is probable

cause to believe that BORGES was the nominee owner of the compnnies RX Exclusive Service

Corp. (çç1tX Exclusive''), GBT Max Service Corp.(EtGBT Max''), and A&MTX Group Cop.
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(EW &MTX Group'') (collectively, the CGST-IELL COMPANIES''I, and that by his actions as a

nominee owner, he knowingly and willfully joined a conspiracy to conceal and move illegal

criminal proceeds from other companies through these SHELL COM PAM ES and conved them

into cash.

The information and statements contained in this affidavit are based upon my

personal lcnowledge and investigation, as well as docllm ents and intbrm ation provided to me by

other 1aw enforcement personnel atld witnesses. Since this affidavit is being submitted for the

limited purpose of seclzring a criminal complaint, l have not included each and every fact known

to me concerning this investigation.

PROBABLE CAUSE

The sledicare 'r/grl-

4. The Medicare Progrnm (GtMedicare'') is a federal health care program that provides

free or below-cost health care benefits to individuals who are sixtp five years of age or older or

disabled. The benefits available under M edicare are govemed by federal statutes and regulations.

The United States Department of Health and Htlman Services, through its agency the Center for

Medicare and Medicaid Services (;1CMS''), oversees and administers Medicare. Individuals who

receive benefits tmder M edicare are commonly referred to as M edicare çtbeneficiaries.''

M edicare is a IGhealth care benefit programy'' as defined by Title 18, United States

Code, Section 24(b).

6. M edicm'e is subdivided into multiple program Gûparts.'' M edicare PM  B covers

physician serdces and outpatient care, including an individual's access to durable medical
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equipment (&GDM E''), that is medically necessmy and ordered by licensed medical doctors or other

qualified health care providers.

Durable M edical Equ+ment

DM E is equipment that is designed for repeated use and for a medical purpose, such

as orthotic devices, prosthetic limbs, wheelchairs, nebulizers, and medical suppiies such as wound

dressing.

8.

health instlrance claim form, known as a CM S-1500. The CM S-1500 requires DM E compaaies to

provide certain important information, including: (a) the Medicare beneficiary's name and llnique

To receive paym ent from M edicare, DM E companies are required to submit a

Medicare identification nllmber; (b) the ullique physician identification nllmber of the doctor or

other qualified health care provider who ordered the health care benefit, item, or selwice that was

the subject of the claim; (c) the health care benefit, item, or service that was provided or supplied

to the benetkiary; (d) the billing codes for the benefit, item, or servioe; and the date upon which

the beneft, item, or serdce was provided to or supplied to the benefciary. Once claims are

submitted, M edicare generally pays a substantial portion of the cost of the DM E and makes those

payments directly to the DME company rather than to the patient/beneficiary.

A claim for DM E submitted to M edicare qualifies for reimblzrsement only if it is

medically necessary for the treatment of the beneficiary's illness or injury, prescribed by a licensed

physician, and actually provided to the beneficiary as billed.

The Underlying H ealth Care Fraud

One Star Professional Services Inc (Gtone StaF'), Med-union Medical Center, Inc.

(û1Med-Ur1ion''), and Vida Med Center LLC (GEvida Med'') (collectively, the IGDME
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COMPANIES''I are all companies located in the Southern District of Florida that purpoledly

provided DM E to M edicare beneficiaries.

Law enforcem ent interviewed at least four M edicare beneficiaries that were billed

for DM E by One Star, five beneficiaries billed by M ed-union, and five beneficiaries billed by

Vida M ed. None of the beneficiaries had heard of the company that had purportedly provided

them with DM E, nor had they heard of or had a relationship with the listed prescribing physician

on the billing intbrmation provided by these companies as reflected in their M edicare claims data.

Each of the beneficiaries interviewed stated that they did not need or receive the DM E that was

purportedly prescribed to them according to the DM E COM PANIES' claims data.

12. Over 95% of the DM E COM PANIES' M edicare billing was for procedure billing

codes related to skin grafts and the application of sldn substitute grafts. None of the beneficiaries

of One Star interviewed by 1aw enforcement needed or had suffered injuries requiring skin grafts.

W hen discussing the bills submitted by One Star to M edicare for the skin grafts purportedly

provided to him, Beneficiary çGJ.M .O.'' told 1aw enforcement? GT hey prescdbed so m any skin

grafts they must tllink I am a whale.''

13. Law enforcement interviewed the physician who purportedly prescribed al1 but one

of the claims billed by One Star, who told 1aw enforcement that he had never heard of One Star,

has not practiced medicine in M edley, Florida, One Star's purpoMed place of business, since at

least 2014, and did not prescribe DM E to any of the patients he purportedly treated according to

One Star's M edicare claims data.

Law enforcement also intezwiewed the physician who ptlrportedly prescribed more

than 90% of the claims billed by M ed-union and the physician who purportedly prescribed a11 of

Case 1:25-mj-02539-LFL   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/21/2025   Page 6 of 11



the claims billed by Vidg M ed. They both signed attestations stating that they did not prescribe

DME to any of the patients they purportedly prescribed DM E to according to the DM E

COM PANIES' M edicare claims data.

According to the claim s data for each of the DM E COM PANIES, One Star

received approximately $18.2 million in payments from M edicare as reimbursement for DM E that

was never provided, M ed-union received approximately $14.1 million in payments from

M edicare as reimbtlrsement for DM E that was never provided, and Vida M ed received

approximately $8.7 million in payments from M edicare as reimbursement for DME that was never

provided.

16. Based on a review of travel records, I have reason to believe that the listed owners

of al1 three of the DM E COM PANIES have left to Cuba and 1 have no record of their rettml.

The SH ELL COM PANIES

17. According to the Florida Division of Corporations, a1l three of the SHELL

COM PANIES are active Florida corporations located at 1275 W est 47th Place, Hialeah, Florida.

IlX Exclusive and GBT M ax were incop orated on or about October 16, 2024, with an effective

date of the snme day, and A&M TX Group was incorporated on or about October 21, 2024, also

with atl effective date of October 16, 2024. BORGES is the sole officer of all the SHELL

COM PAM ES.

Laxv enforcenAent Nvas able to identify corporate bnnk accotmts for the DME

COM PANIES. Records for those bank accotmts show that the DM E COM PANIES wrote checks

to each of the SHELL COMPANIES as follows:
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'-.klky
One Star wrote at least tllree checks e  approximately $144,200 to A&M TX
Group, five checks for approximately $255,000 to GBT M ax, and four checks
approximately $223,200 to ltX Exclusive;

Vida M ed wrote at least 10 checks > r approximately $500,030 to A&M TX Group, '
seven checks for approximately $295,400 to GBT M ax, and nine checks .fer
approximately $487,160 to 1lX Exclusive; and

M ed-union wrote at least one check for
Group.

Each of the checks described above were

approximately $58,700 to A&M TX

for similr, substantial, five-figure

nmounts between approximately $15,000 and $60,000 and were a11 written in November and

December 2024. In total, banqk records for the DME COMPANIES show that they transfen'ed

approximately $1.96 million to the SHELL COM PANIES.

20. Each of the checks described above was stamped as having been cashed by a

particular non-bnnk check cashing institution (GCCOMPANY-I''). Law enforcement obtained

records fTom  COM PANY-I showing that, f'rom in or around N ovember 2024 until in or arotmd

December 2024, COM PANY-I cashed numerous checks on behalf of the SHELL COMPANIES.

The checks contained a thumbprint on the front and were ptuportedly endorsed by BORGES on

the back.

COM PANY-I provided to 1aw enforcem ent three documents titled Stcertificate of

Coporate Resolution Authorizing the Cashing of Checks M ade Payable to the Corporation at

N on-Bnnk Retail Locations'' for the SHELL COM PANIES. A1l three docllments were

purportedly executed in November 2024 by BORGES and indicated that he was the sole officer

authorized to cash checks with COM PANY-I. The form s also included BORGES'S correct social

sectlrity nllmber. These form s indicated that GBT M ax was a com pany related to Ciorganic food

products, brokers gsic) supply'' and that 1tX Exclusive was a GGsales of organic food product
6
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broker.'' These purported business operations are inconsistent with receiving and cashing nearly

$2 million from the DME COMPANIES.

COM PANY-I also produced from their records a photograph of BORGES holding

his driver's license and a color photocopy of BORGES'S social sectlrity card.

BORGES'S Travel andArrest

According to travel records, between April 2023 and the present, BORGES appears

to have traveled frequently between Cuba and M iami. Dtlring that two-year period, BORGES

flew to Cuba approxim ately 35 tim es. And it appears that som e of the SFIELL COM PAM ES'

checks cashed at COM PANY-I were cashed while BORGES was in Cuba.

24. On December 30, 2024, BORGES flew from M iami to Havana, Cuba. BORGES

did not return to the United States until flying on a roundtrip ticket arriving in M iami from

Varadero, Cuba on March 16, 2025 with a scheduled return flight from M iami to Varadero on

M arch 20, 2025.

On M arch 20, 2025, when BORGES G ived at the airpol't to board the ret'urn flight

to Varadero, Cuba, 1aw enforcement detained BORGES and questioned him about the ongoing

m oney latm dering investigation. BORGES claim ed that an individual approached him  and offered

him money to be the listed owner of two unrelated businesses.l

1 These businesses are separate from the DM E COM PANIES or the SHELL COMPANIES. A
search of Florida cop orate records reveals that BORGES was, in fact, a prior owner of at least
two other com panies.
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26. According to BORGES, he provided to this individual llis identification and social

seclzrity card and was taken to a corporate office to sign the papers to be an officer of these

companies and BORGES also visited banks to open corporate bank accounts for these businesses.

BORGES indicated that the individual provided llim with a couple thousand dollars on various

occasions for completing these tasks.In addition, BORGES claimed that the individual provided

llim with a large stack of blnnk unsigned checks that were not ûlled out and that the individual

asked BORGES to put his thumbprint repeatedly on each check.

27. Law enforcement searched BORGES'S cell phone, which revealed photographs of

such blnnk checks drawn on One Star's corporate barllc account which were imprinted with

BORGES'S thumbprint. As discussed above, One Star is one of the DM E COM PANIES. W hen

asked why he took these photos, BORGES claim ed that he to e photos because he suspected

that the individual was aslcing him to do could someday get him in trouble. Law enforcement

determined that the specific checks in these photographs were in fact filled out and cashed as pa.rt

of the money latmdering conspiracy.

28. W hen law enfbrcem ent asked BORGES about the SHELL COM PANIES, he

dezlied any knowledge of being the listed owner and denied cashing any of the approximately $2

million in checks cashed for the SHELL COM PANIES at COM PANY-I. BORGES also denied

endorsing the backs of the checks. W hen I showed BORGES the photograph COM PANY-I had

on file of him (described above in paragraph 22), BORGES admitled that it was llim in the picture

but denied any dealings with COM PANY-I. BORGES could not provide further inform ation

about the circum stances surrotmding that photograph including why it was taken.

8
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. , *

29. W hen asked about lzis cotmtry of residence, BORGES claim ed that he lives in the

United States but that he was spending significant time in Cuba due to the need to assist a family

mem ber.

CONCLUSION

30. Based on the facts set forth above, l respectfully submit that probable cause exists

to charge BORGES with conspiracy to comm it m oney laundering, in violation of Title 18, United

States Code, Section 1956(h).

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NAU GHT.

ANTHONY A . LAM
SPECIM  AGENT
HEALTH AND HUM AN SERVICES
OFFICE OF THE INSPECTOR GENERAL

Swolm o efore and sign d in m y presence
this d of M arc 025.

HONORAB E L UREN F. LOUIS
UNITED STATES M AGISTRATE JUDGE
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